
 
 

 
 

 E X T R A O R D I N A R Y  
C O U N C I L  M E E T I N G    

By the Direction of the Monitoring Officer, 
All Members of the Council are 

HEREBY SUMMONED 
to attend a meeting of the Council 

to be held on: 
 

Wednesday, 24 January 2024 at 5.00 pm 
Hackney Town Hall,  
Mare Street, E8 1EA 

 
Live stream link: https://youtube.com/live/0ZpixXbsaBw 

 
Back up link: https://youtube.com/live/rGDM0F9NmzI 

 

 
Dawn Carter-McDonald  
Interim Chief Executive 
Published on: 16 January 2024 
www.hackney.gov.uk 

Contact: Natalie Williams   
Senior Governance Officer 

governance@hackney.gov.uk 
 
 

 

https://youtube.com/live/0ZpixXbsaBw
https://youtube.com/live/rGDM0F9NmzI
http://www.hackney.gov.uk/
mailto:governance@hackney.gov.uk


 
 

EXTRAORDINARY MEETING OF COUNCIL 
WEDNESDAY, 24 JANUARY 2024 

ORDER OF BUSINESS 
 
 
1 Apologies for Absence   
 
2 Declarations of Interest   
 

Members are invited to consider the guidance which accompanies this 
agenda and make declarations as appropriate. 

 
3 Independent Governance Review – Report Commissioned by the Interim 

Chief Executive: Enclosed (Pages 7 - 16) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Public Attendance  
 
The Town Hall is open.  Information on forthcoming Council meetings can be 
obtained from the Town Hall Reception.  
 
Members of the public and representatives of the press are entitled to attend Council 
meetings and remain and hear discussions on matters within the public part of the 
meeting. They are not, however, entitled to participate in any discussions. Council 
meetings can also be observed via the live-stream facility, the link for which appears 
on the agenda front sheet of each committee meeting.  
 
On occasions part of the meeting may be held in private and will not be open to the 
public. This is if an item being considered is likely to lead to the disclosure of exempt 
or confidential information in accordance with Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended). Reasons for exemption will be specified for 
each respective agenda item.  
 
For further information, including public participation, please visit our website 
https://hackney.gov.uk/menu#get-involved-council-decisions or contact:  
governance@hackney.gov.uk 
 
Rights of Press and Public to Report on Meetings   
 
The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 give the public the 
right to film, record audio, take photographs, and use social media and the internet at 
meetings to report on any meetings that are open to the public. 
 
By attending a public meeting of the Council, Executive, any committee or sub-
committee, any Panel or Commission, or any Board you are agreeing to these 
guidelines as a whole and in particular the stipulations listed below: 
 

• Anyone planning to record meetings of the Council and its public meetings 
through any audio, visual or written methods they find appropriate can do so 
providing they do not disturb the conduct of the meeting;  

• You are welcome to attend a public meeting to report proceedings, either in 
‘real time’ or after conclusion of the meeting, on a blog, social networking site, 
news forum or other online media;  

• You may use a laptop, tablet device, smartphone or portable camera to record 
a written or audio transcript of proceedings during the meeting; 

• Facilities within the Town Hall and Council Chamber are limited and recording 
equipment must be of a reasonable size and nature to be easily 
accommodated. 

• You are asked to contact the Officer whose name appears at the beginning of 
this Agenda if you have any large or complex recording equipment to see 
whether this can be accommodated within the existing facilities;  

• You must not interrupt proceedings and digital equipment must be set to 
‘silent’ mode;  

• You should focus any recording equipment on Councillors, officers and the 
public who are directly involved in the conduct of the meeting. The Chair of 
the meeting will ask any members of the public present if they have objections 
to being visually recorded. Those visually recording a meeting are asked to 

https://hackney.gov.uk/menu#get-involved-council-decisions
mailto:governance@hackney.gov.uk


 
 

respect the wishes of those who do not wish to be filmed or photographed. 
Failure to respect the wishes of those who do not want to be filmed and 
photographed may result in the Chair instructing you to cease reporting or 
recording and you may potentially be excluded from the meeting if you fail to 
comply;  

• Any person whose behaviour threatens to disrupt orderly conduct will be 
asked to leave;   

• Be aware that libellous comments against the council, individual Councillors 
or officers could result in legal action being taken against you; 

• The recorded images must not be edited in a way in which there is a clear aim 
to distort the truth or misrepresent those taking part in the proceedings; 

• Personal attacks of any kind or offensive comments that target or disparage 
any ethnic, racial, age, religion, gender, sexual orientation or disability status 
could also result in legal action being taken against you. 

 
Failure to comply with the above requirements may result in the support and 
assistance of the Council in the recording of proceedings being withdrawn. The 
Council regards violation of any of the points above as a risk to the orderly conduct 
of a meeting. The Council therefore reserves the right to exclude any person from 
the current meeting and refuse entry to any further council meetings, where a breach 
of these requirements occurs. The Chair of the meeting will ensure that the meeting 
runs in an effective manner and has the power to ensure that the meeting is not 
disturbed through the use of flash photography, intrusive camera equipment or the 
person recording the meeting moving around the room. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Advice to Members on Declaring Interests  
 
If you require advice on declarations of interests, this can be obtained from: 
 

• The Monitoring Officer; 
• The Deputy Monitoring Officer; or 
• The legal adviser to the meeting. 

 
It is recommended that any advice be sought in advance of, rather than at, the 
meeting. 
 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs) 
 
You will have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (*DPI) if it: 
 

• Relates to your employment, sponsorship, contracts as well as wider financial 
interests and assets including land, property, licenses and corporate 
tenancies. 

• Relates to an interest which you have registered in that part of the Register of 
Interests form relating to DPIs as being an interest of you, your spouse or civil 
partner, or anyone living with you as if they were your spouse or civil partner. 

• Relates to an interest which should be registered in that part of the Register of 
Interests form relating to DPIs, but you have not yet done so.  

 
If you are present at any meeting of the Council and you have a DPI relating to any 
business that will be considered at the meeting, you must: 

• Not seek to improperly influence decision-making on that matter; 
• Make a verbal declaration of the existence and nature of the DPI at or before 

the consideration of the item of business or as soon as the interest becomes 
apparent; and 

• Leave the room whilst the matter is under consideration 
 
You must not: 
 

• Participate in any discussion of the business at the meeting, or if you become 
aware of your Disclosable Pecuniary Interest during the meeting, participate 
further in any discussion of the business; or 

• Participate in any vote or further vote taken on the matter at the meeting. 
 
If you have obtained a dispensation from the Monitoring Officer or Standards 
Committee prior to the matter being considered, then you should make a verbal 
declaration of the existence and nature of the DPI and that you have obtained a 
dispensation. The dispensation granted will explain the extent to which you are able 
to participate.  
 
 
Other Registrable Interests 
 
You will have an ‘Other Registrable Interest’ (ORI) in a matter if it 
 



 
 

• Relates to appointments made by the authority to any outside bodies, 
membership of: charities, trade unions,, lobbying or campaign groups, 
voluntary organisations in the borough or governorships at any educational 
institution within the borough. 

• Relates to an interest which you have registered in that part of the Register of 
Interests form relating to ORIs as being an interest of you, your spouse or civil 
partner, or anyone living with you as if they were your spouse or civil partner; 
or 

• Relates to an interest which should be registered in that part of the Register of 
Interests form relating to ORIs, but you have not yet done so.  

 
Where a matter arises at any meeting of the Council which affects a body or 
organisation you have named in that part of the Register of Interests Form relating to 
ORIs, you must make a verbal declaration of the existence and nature of the DPI at 
or before the consideration of the item of business or as soon as the interest 
becomes apparent. You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are 
also allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any 
discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have 
been granted a dispensation.  
 
Disclosure of Other Interests 
 
Where a matter arises at any meeting of the Council which directly relates to your 
financial interest or well-being or a financial interest or well-being of a relative or 
close associate, you must disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter only if 
members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting. Otherwise you must 
not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the 
room unless you have been granted a dispensation. 
 
Where a matter arises at any meeting of the Council which affects your financial 
interest or well-being, or a financial interest of well-being of a relative or close 
associate to a greater extent than it affects the financial interest or wellbeing of the 
majority of inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and a reasonable 
member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it would affect your 
view of the wider public interest, you must declare the interest. You may only speak 
on the matter if members of the public are able to speak. Otherwise you must not 
take part in any discussion or voting on the matter and must not remain in the room 
unless you have been granted a dispensation. 
 
In all cases, where the Monitoring Officer has agreed that the interest in question is a 
sensitive interest, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest itself. 



-

Title of Report Independent Governance Review

For Consideration By Council

Meeting Date 24 January 2024 (Extraordinary Meeting)

Classification Open

Ward(s) Affected N/A

Group Director Dawn Carter-McDonald, Interim Chief Executive

1. Summary

1.1. The purpose of this report is to present the outcome of the non-statutory
Independent Governance Review that was commissioned following
conviction and sentencing of former Councillor Tom Dewey and the
subsequent resignation of former Mayor Philip Glanville.

2. Recommendations

2.1. That Full Council notes the report on the Independent Governance
Review conducted by Mr John Henderson and note the
recommendations contained therein.

3. Background

3.1. Following the conviction and sentencing of former Councillor Tom Dewey
and the subsequent resignation of former Mayor Philip Glanville, an
Independent Governance Review was commissioned by the Interim Chief
Executive

3.2. The non-statutory review focused primarily on the formal aspects of
governance and safeguarding, before looking more widely at the causal
factors. The specific aims in the Terms of Reference were expressed in the
following terms:

3.2.1. To review the decisions and actions taken by the Council
following notification from the National Crime Agency of the
arrest of former Councillor Dewey.

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



3.2.2. To review the processes and guidance in place at the time for
both Officers and Members.

3.2.3. To make any recommendations for improving the Council’s
processes and guidance based on the review’s findings.

3.3. Mr John Henderson, was appointed to carry out the review. Mr Henderson
has a broad and distinguished career in public service. Most recently, he
served as Chief Executive of Staffordshire County Council for over eight
years, leading the organisation through the pandemic. Prior to his role in
local government, he served for over 30 years in the Army, ending his
service as a Major General commanding the British Forces in Germany; in
the 2014 New Year Honours List, he was appointed Companion of the Order
of the Bath (CB).

3.4. Mr Henderson has now completed his review and a copy of his report
appears at Appendix 1 to this report.

4. Comments of the Acting Group Director of Finance

4.1. The costs of this Independent Governance Review are being met from
existing budgets. Any subsequent review resulting from the
recommendations of this report will also need to be met from existing
budgets.

5. Comments of the Acting Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral
Services

5.1. There are no legal implications arising directly from the content of this report.

Page 8



Appendices

Appendix 1 - Independent Governance Review, report by John Henderson

Background documents

None

Report Author Dawn Carter-McDonald
Interim Chief Executive
dawn.cartermcdonald@hackney.gov.uk

Comments for the Acting
Group Director of Finance
prepared by

Jackie Moylan
Acting Group Director, Finance
jackie.moylan@hackney.gov.uk

Comments for the Acting
Director of Legal,
Democratic and Electoral
Services prepared by

Louise Humphreys
Acting Director, Legal, Democratic & Electoral
Services
louise.humphreys@hackney.gov.uk

Page 9

mailto:dawn.cartermcdonald@hackney.gov.uk
mailto:jackie.moylan@hackney.gov.uk
mailto:louise.humphreys@hackney.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 LONDON  BOROUGH  OF  HACKNEY  COUNCIL 

 INDEPENDENT  GOVERNANCE  REVIEW 

 THE  ELECTION  AND  RESIGNATION  OF  FORMER  COUNCILLOR  TOM  DEWEY 

 1.  EXECUTIVE  SUMMARY 

 1.1.  Tom  Dewey,  a  former  Hackney  Council  officer  and  elected  Member, 
 was  convicted  of  possessing  indecent  images  of  children  on  18  July 
 2023,  and  sentenced  to  12  months’  imprisonment,  suspended  for  2 
 years,  on  15  August  2023.  He  had  served  as  a  Support  Officer  in  the 
 Mayor’s  office  between  October  2015  and  May  2017,  and  was  elected 
 as  a  Labour  councillor  for  De  Beauvoir  ward  on  5  May  2022;  he 
 resigned  on  16  May  2022,  after  the  National  Crime  Agency  (NCA) 
 informed  the  Council  that  he  had  been  arrested  on  29  April  2022  in 
 connection  with  the  offences  for  which  he  was  subsequently  convicted. 
 Former  Mayor  Philip  Glanville,  his  erstwhile  superior  and  housemate, 
 resigned  in  September  2023. 

 1.2.  The  headline  is  that  the  Council’s  Constitution  and  Governance 
 processes  worked  as  they  should  in  dealing  with  a  very  difficult,  rapidly 
 evolving,  situation;  officers  are  commended  for  their  cool  heads  and 
 steady  hands  over  a  challenging  weekend. 

 1.3.  The  focus  of  this  review  has  been  on  the  Council’s  governance  and 
 processes,  rather  than  an  investigation  into  individuals’  actions  and 
 behaviours.   On  examining  the  root  causes,  however,  it  very  quickly 
 became  clear  that  the  primary  causes  of  these  events  were  individual 
 failings;  it  was  the  practice  that  failed  rather  than  the  policy.   Tom 
 Dewey  found  his  way  into  successive  positions,  firstly  as  an  officer,  then 
 as  housemate,  and  finally  as  candidate  for  election  in  May  2022.   The 
 normal  checks  and  balances  for  maintaining  distance  between 
 Members  and  Officers  through  culture  and  Politically  Restricted  Posts 
 (PRPs)  failed.   Similarly,  Tom  Dewey  managed  to  find  his  way  through 
 candidate  selection,  and  only  the  excellent  work  of  the  National  Crime 
 Agency  (NCA)  and  the  Council’s  senior  Officers  meant  that  he  was  only 
 a  councillor  for  11  days,  before  he  was  presented  with  the  facts  and 
 options,  and  resigned. 

 1.4.  This  has  been  a  reputationally  damaging  episode  for  Hackney  Council, 
 internally  and  externally,  which  has  detracted  from  the  excellent  work 
 being  done  for  residents  and  in  communities;  3  additional  elections 
 have  cost  the  Council  significant  expense,  and  Members  and  Officers 
 have  been  distracted  from  their  normal  activities.  Members  can, 
 however,  take  solace  from  the  fact  that,  despite  individual  failings,  the 
 Council  reacted  as  hoped  and  expected.   The  recommendations  below 
 focus  on  how  to  prevent  a  repetition  of  these  events. 

 1 Page 11



 2.  RECOMMENDATIONS 

 2.1.  It  is  suggested  that  the  Council  review  the  PRP  list,  and,  more  widely, 
 the  culture  around  political  impartiality  of  your  Officers.    

 2.2.  It  is  suggested  that  political  groups  re-examine  their  candidate  selection 
 processes. 

 3.  TERMS  OF  REFERENCE,  CHRONOLOGY  AND  APPROACH 

 3.1.  This  non-statutory  review  was  commissioned  by  Ms  Dawn 
 Carter-McDonald,  Interim  Chief  Executive  of  Hackney  Council;  it 
 focuses  primarily  on  the  formal  aspects  of  governance  and 
 safeguarding,  before  looking  more  widely  at  the  causal  factors.  Specific 
 aims  in  the  Terms  of  Reference  are: 

 3.1.1.  To  review  the  decisions  and  actions  taken  by  the  Council 
 following  notification  from  the  National  Crime  Agency  of  the 
 arrest  of  former  Councillor  Dewey. 

 3.1.2.  Review  the  processes  and  guidance  in  place  at  the  time  for  both 
 Officers  and  Members. 

 3.1.3.  Make  any  recommendations  for  improving  the  Council’s 
 processes  and  guidance  based  on  the  review’s  findings. 

 3.2.  In  early  discussions  with  senior  Council  officers,  it  was  agreed  that  the 
 timeline  to  be  investigated  should  be  extended  from  the  immediate 
 period  around  the  time  of  Mr  Dewey’s  arrest  and  resignation,  to  include 
 his  period  as  an  Officer  in  the  Council  and  former  Mayor  Glanville’s 
 resignation.  It  was  also  decided  that,  given  the  political  and  public 
 interest  in  the  subject,  the  Council’s  political  leaders  from  the  Labour, 
 Conservative  and  Green  Party  Groups  should  be  interviewed;  this  is  in 
 addition  to  the  officers  and  external  chairs  and  leaders  of  children’s  and 
 adults’  safeguarding  bodies  named  in  the  Terms  of  Reference,  who 
 were  principally  involved  in  the  safeguarding  and  legal  leadership  of  the 
 Council. 

 3.3.  It  should  be  noted  that  only  current  Officers  of  Hackney  Council  have 
 any  compulsion  to  cooperate,  on  the  Chief  Executive’s  instructions.  It  is 
 regrettable  that  neither  Mr  Glanville  nor  Mr  Dewey  responded  to 
 requests  to  be  interviewed,  but  it  has  been  notable  how  cooperative 
 and  self-aware  all  other  Members,  Officers  and  external  safeguarding 
 leaders  have  been  in  support  of  this  review. 

 3.4.  The  standard  of  proof  in  this  review  is  “on  the  balance  of  probabilities”, 
 used  in  civil  cases,  rather  than  the  more  onerous  “beyond  reasonable 
 doubt”  used  in  criminal  cases.  This  is  a  reasonable  assumption  in  a 
 case  such  as  this  where  resources,  specifically  time,  skills  and  capacity, 
 and  compulsion  do  not  facilitate  in-depth  investigation.  It  requires  a 
 scrupulous  adherence  to  considering  only  evidence,  ignoring 
 speculation  and  hearsay,  and  setting  aside  any  scepticism  or  optimism. 

 2 Page 12



 3.5.  There  has  been  a  great  deal  of  discussion  on  events  and  timings  in  this 
 episode;  establishing  a  single  recognised  chronology  of  events  was 
 therefore  a  high  priority.  It  is  laid  out  in  the  next  section. 

 3.6.  Similarly,  in  some  of  the  public  discussions,  there  has  been  a  tension 
 between  the  rights  of  an  individual,  specifically  to  privacy  and  the 
 presumption  of  innocence  until  proven  guilty,  and  the  expectations  of 
 transparency  and  scrutiny  of  people  who  are  in  public  life. 
 Consequently,  it  was  agreed  that  the  review  would  look  at  the  events 
 and  issues  through  2  lenses:  a  straightforward  legal  and  process 
 interpretation  of  the  laws  and  rules  which  governed  what  happened; 
 and  secondly,  an  additional  examination  looking  at  the  events  through 
 the  lens  of  Standards  in  Public  Life  -  the  Nolan  Principles.  Specifically, 
 the  questions  that  were  asked  were  whether  something  could  have 
 been  done  differently,  and  whether  it  should  have. 

 4.  TIMELINE  OF  EVENTS 

 4.1.  Tom  Dewey’s  first  formal  contact  with  Hackney  Council  was  when  he 
 was  appointed  to  be  a  Support  Officer  in  the  Mayor’s  Office  in  October 
 2015,  a  position  he  held  until  May  2017.  This  was  a  PRP,  which  should 
 have  banned  any  political  activity  on  his  part.  He  left  this  appointment 
 and  worked  subsequently  for  Kanda,  a  consultancy  company  run  by  the 
 former  Deputy  Mayor,  Karen  Alcock.  He  was  adopted  as  a  Labour 
 Candidate  for  De  Beauvoir  ward  for  the  May  2022  election,  and 
 submitted  his  nomination  papers  prior  to  the  closing  date  of  5  April 
 2022. 

 4.2.  Mr  Dewey  was  arrested  at  07.07am  on  29  April  2022  at  the  home  that 
 he  shared  with  then  Mayor  Philip  Glanville  in  a  low-key  operation  by  the 
 NCA,  using  unmarked  cars  and  a  small  number  of  plain  clothes  officers. 
 This  was  a  deliberate  risk-based  decision  by  the  NCA.  Mr  Glanville 
 was  not  at  home.  Officers  removed  8  electronic  items,  and  released  Mr 
 Dewey  with  bail  conditions  on  his  movement,  association  and  access  to 
 electronic  devices. 

 4.3.  Mr  Dewey  was  elected  to  represent  De  Beauvoir  ward  on  5  May  2022, 
 one  of  2  Labour  councillors  returned,  along  with  Councillor  Polly 
 Billington,  who  received  1,400  votes  to  his  1,102. 

 4.4.  In  the  early  afternoon  of  Friday  13  May  2022,  at  1.27pm,  the  NCA 
 made  a  formal  referral  to  Hackney  Council’s  Local  Authority  Designated 
 Officer  (LADO)  informing  the  Council  of  Mr  Dewey’s  arrest.  The 
 remainder  of  Friday  afternoon  was  spent  in  briefings  between  Officers 
 of  the  Council  and  of  the  NCA.  Mayor  Glanville  was  informed  of  the 
 arrest  in  a  telephone  call  from  Mr  Mark  Carroll,  the  Chief  Executive,  on 
 Saturday  morning,  14  May  2022,  after  Mr  Carroll  had  confirmed  details 
 with  the  lead  officer  of  the  NCA.  Mr  Glanville  hosted  a  Eurovision  party 
 with  Mr  Dewey  that  evening  in  their  shared  home. 

 3 Page 13



 4.5.  Monday  16  May  2022  commenced  with  a  strategy  meeting  between 
 senior  safeguarding  and  legal  officers  of  the  Council  and  the  NCA, 
 chaired  by  the  Chief  Executive,  followed  by  a  series  of  meetings  with 
 officers  and  politicians,  including  Mayor  Glanville  and  Councillors 
 Adams  and  Rathbone.  Mr  Carroll  requested  a  face-to-face  meeting 
 with  Mr  Dewey,  which  took  place  at  6.00pm,  at  which  he  was  presented 
 with  the  facts  and  his  options,  including  an  explanation  on  the  practical 
 implementation  of  his  bail  conditions.  He  decided  to  resign 
 immediately,  emailing  his  resignation  to  the  CE  at  6.58pm.  He  returned 
 his  Council  laptop  and  security  pass  that  evening,  and  Council  Officers 
 removed  Mr  Dewey  from  the  Council  website;  they  also  offered  him 
 support.  Mr  Dewey  did  not  attend  the  Labour  Group  Annual  General 
 Meeting  that  evening,  withdrawing  his  candidature  for  an  elected 
 position. 

 4.6.  The  Council  responded  to  a  media  enquiry  on  18  May  2022  to  the  effect 
 that  Mr  Dewey  had  stood  down  for  personal  reasons.  In  a  by-election 
 on  7  July  2022,  Councillor  Joe  Walker  won  the  seat  in  De  Beauvoir 
 Ward  for  Labour  with  758  votes. 

 4.7.  On  30  June  2023,  the  Hackney  Citizen  published  an  article  stating  that 
 Mr  Dewey  had  been  charged  with  the  offences  to  which  he  would  plead 
 guilty  on  18  July  2023  at  Uxbridge  Magistrates’  Court;  on  15  August 
 2023  at  Isleworth  Crown  Court,  he  was  sentenced  to  12  months’ 
 imprisonment,  suspended  for  2  years,  with  community  service, 
 rehabilitation  activity  and  a  10-year  sexual  harm  prevention  order. 

 4.8.  A  photograph  from  the  Eurovision  party  resurfaced  in  August  2023, 
 contradicting  Mayor  Glanville’s  public  statements  on  his  association 
 with  Mr  Dewey  during  the  weekend  of  14/15  May  2022,  which  led  to  his 
 suspension  from  the  Labour  Party  on  31  August  2023  and  his 
 resignation  on  15  September  2023. 

 5.  ANALYSIS  AND  DEDUCTIONS 

 5.1.  The  headline  deduction  is  that  Hackney  Council’s  safeguarding 
 systems  and  processes  worked  perfectly  in  a  very  testing  situation. 
 Some  effort  was  made  early  on  by  the  Officers  to  ascertain  whether 
 there  were  any  examples  of  councils  dealing  with  similar  challenges, 
 but  none  could  be  found.  Particular  credit  must  go  to  Ms  Dawn 
 Carter-McDonald,  the  Interim  Chief  Executive,  who  was  in  May  2022 
 the  Director  of  Legal,  Democratic  and  Electoral  Services,  and  the 
 Council’s  Monitoring  Officer,  for  retaining  a  cool  head  and  a  steady 
 hand  in  guiding  the  Council’s  elected  Members  and  Officers  through 
 what  was  an  unusually  testing  case.  She  was  ably  assisted  by  several 
 other  officers,  of  whom  Ms  Louise  Humphreys  and  Ms  Lucy  Cobb  stand 
 out. 

 4 Page 14



 5.2.  There  has  been  some  discussion  as  to  whether  the  Council  could  have, 
 or  should  have,  been  more  open  on  the  reasons  for  Mr  Dewey’s 
 resignation.  It  must  be  remembered  that  Mr  Dewey  could  have 
 remained  a  councillor  until  his  sentencing  in  August  2023  1  ;  he  has  an 
 expectation  to  a  private  life,  and  a  right  to  be  treated  as  innocent  until 
 proven  guilty.  Put  simply,  the  only  person  who  could  have  made  such 
 an  announcement  is  Mr  Dewey,  and  he  chose  not  to;  for  the  Council  or 
 the  Labour  Party  to  have  done  otherwise  would  have  been  wholly 
 wrong. 

 5.3.  Similarly,  Tom  Dewey  was  arrested  on  29  April  2022,  after  nominations 
 had  closed,  but  before  the  election  on  5  May  2022.  Even  if  he  had 
 withdrawn,  which  he  evidently  chose  not  to,  his  name  would  have  been 
 on  the  ballot  paper.  As  to  whether  he  told  anybody  of  his  arrest  before 
 the  election,  it  is  assessed,  on  the  balance  of  probabilities,  that  he  did 
 not.  The  NCA  arrest  was  low-key,  he  was  alone  at  home,  and,  when  he 
 was  presented  with  the  facts  on  16  May  2022,  he  was  visibly  shocked 
 that  the  criminal  justice  system  had  worked  as  quickly  as  it  had;  this 
 would  suggest  that  he  had  hoped  to  put  off  the  reckoning  that  he  must 
 have  known  was  coming.  There  is  evidence  that  Mr  Glanville  did  not 
 know  of  his  arrest  until  Mr  Carroll  informed  him  on  14  May  2022,  but 
 there  is  also  evidence  that  Mr  Glanville  ignored  advice  in  continuing 
 with  the  Eurovision  party  after  being  informed  of  the  arrest. 

 5.4.  It  was  suggested  by  one  interviewee  that  Disclosure  Barring  Service 
 (DBS)  checks  for  all  candidates  seeking  election  would  be  a  useful  way 
 of  preventing  candidates  such  as  Tom  Dewey  from  standing  in  future. 
 Having  taken  wide  advice  on  the  subject,  it  is  not  felt  that  this  would  be 
 something  to  be  pursued.  DBS  checks  are  a  negative  vetting  measure, 
 only  looking  for  major  issues  such  as  existing  convictions,  and  only  as 
 good  as  the  day  on  which  they  were  performed;  this  would  also  have  to 
 be  a  national  decision,  rather  than  something  that  Hackney  Council 
 could  implement  of  its  own  volition.  Mr  Dewey  would  almost  certainly 
 have  passed  a  DBS  check  in  early  2022,  and  there  is  a  risk  that  they 
 might  give  a  false  sense  of  reassurance.  That  said,  there  is  certainly 
 benefit  to  be  had  for  political  groups  in  reassessing  their  selection 
 processes.  As  part  of  that  process,  it  would  be  worth  reconsidering 
 whether  the  decision  by  Hackney  Labour  to  conduct  candidate 
 selection  at  ward  level  should  be  revisited  for  the  2026  election. 

 5.5.  More  broadly,  several  members  and  officers  spoke  about  overly  close 
 relationships  between  Members  and  Officers,  which  impacted  formal 
 activities,  including  performance  management,  as  well  as  a  familiarity 
 that  went  beyond  Members’  brief  attendance  at  farewell  events.  It 
 would  appear  that  those  instances  were  relatively  localised;  many  of 
 those  interviewed  had  not  experienced  this  tendency  directly,  but  were 

 1  A  sentence  of  3  months  or  more,  served  in  custody  or  suspended,  disqualifies  a  person  from  being  a 
 councillor.  The  Local  Government  (Disqualification)  Act  2022  broadens  the  criteria  to  include  lower  sentences 
 for  sexual  offences  such  as  those  for  which  Mr  Dewey  was  convicted.  In  either  case,  Mr  Dewey  would  have 
 been  disqualified  on  sentencing  in  August  2023. 

 5 Page 15



 aware  of  it.   The  Officers’  Code  of  Practice  is  very  clear  about  the  need 
 for  impartiality,  and  it  is  heartening  to  hear  from  the  current  Mayor  that  a 
 professional  and  courteous  relationship  is  what  is  sought;  evidence 
 from  Officers  who  attend  meetings  with  her  confirm  that  this  is  the  case. 
      

 6.  CONCLUSION 

 6.1.  A  highly  ambitious,  but  deeply  flawed,  young  man  decided  to  launch  his 
 political  career  in  Hackney  Council,  firstly  as  an  Officer,  and 
 subsequently  as  an  elected  Member.   He  developed  a  professional, 
 political  and  personal  relationship  with  the  Mayor  -  by  all  accounts, 
 including  from  political  opponents,  an  effective  politician,  but  probably 
 naive  in  his  dealings  with  Tom  Dewey. 

 6.2.  Clearly  and  thankfully,  this  case  is  an  outlier,  but  Mr  Dewey’s  adoption 
 as  a  candidate  damages  other  Councillors  who  work  hard  for  their 
 communities.  Formal  DBS  checks  are  almost  certainly  not  the  answer, 
 but  it  would  be  worth  looking  again  at  the  motivation  and  background  of 
 candidates.   Whether  selection  at  ward  level  allows  sufficient  scrutiny 
 would  be  worth  examining. 

 6.3.  As  well  as  the  unnamed  victims  of  Mr  Dewey’s  crimes,  more  locally  in 
 Hackney:  a  mayoral  career  lies  in  tatters;  the  Council  has  been  obliged 
 to  spend  large  sums  of  money  on  3  additional  elections;  member  and 
 officer  time  has  been  diverted  away  from  their  core  tasks  to  dealing  with 
 these  issues;  and  the  excellent  work  that  Hackney  Council  has  done  to 
 establish  a  shining  reputation  among  London  councils  has  been 
 tarnished.  The  United  Kingdom  has  a  long-established  practice  of 
 democratically-elected  politicians  deciding  policy  and  politically-neutral 
 officials  implementing  it  across  government,  local  government  and  the 
 armed  forces.  In  Hackney,  those  boundaries  between  politicians  and 
 officials  became  blurred,  which  affected  judgement  and  reduced  mutual 
 trust.  It  is  reassuring  that,  under  the  leadership  of  the  newly-elected 
 Mayor  and  the  Interim  Chief  Executive,  a  more  recognisable  culture  is 
 being  re-established. 

 6 Page 16


	Agenda
	3 Independent Governance Review
	Appendix 1 -  Hackney Independent Governance Review


